

IFAU – INSTITUTE FOR LABOUR MARKET POLICY EVALUATION

a, citation and similar papers at core.ac.uk

brought to y

# Effects of work requirements on welfare migration

Karin Edmark

WORKING PAPER 2007:29

The Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU) is a research institute under the Swedish Ministry of Employment, situated in Uppsala. IFAU's objective is to promote, support and carry out scientific evaluations. The assignment includes: the effects of labour market policies, studies of the functioning of the labour market, the labour market effects of educational policies and the labour market effects of social insurance policies. IFAU shall also disseminate its results so that they become accessible to different interested parties in Sweden and abroad.

IFAU also provides funding for research projects within its areas of interest. The deadline for applications is October 1 each year. Since the researchers at IFAU are mainly economists, researchers from other disciplines are encouraged to apply for funding.

IFAU is run by a Director-General. The institute has a scientific council, consisting of a chairman, the Director-General and five other members. Among other things, the scientific council proposes a decision for the allocation of research grants. A reference group including representatives for employer organizations and trade unions, as well as the ministries and authorities concerned is also connected to the institute.

Postal address: P O Box 513, 751 20 Uppsala Visiting address: Kyrkogårdsgatan 6, Uppsala Phone: +46 18 471 70 70 Fax: +46 18 471 70 71 ifau@ifau.uu.se www.ifau.se

Papers published in the Working Paper Series should, according to the IFAU policy, have been discussed at seminars held at IFAU and at least one other academic forum, and have been read by one external and one internal referee. They need not, however, have undergone the standard scrutiny for publication in a scientific journal. The purpose of the Working Paper Series is to provide a factual basis for public policy and the public policy discussion.

ISSN 1651-1166

# Effects of work requirements on welfare migration<sup>\*</sup>

Karin Edmark<sup> $\dagger$ </sup>

2007 - 11 - 12

#### Abstract

This study tests for a migration response to the implementation of stricter rules for welfare benefit receipt, in the form of mandatory participation in activation programs for welfare recipients, in Stockholm town districts. The hypothesis is that welfare benefit prone individuals will choose to live in a town district that has no program if they dislike the loss of leisure due to program participation more than they value the contents of the program, and vice versa. The results give some indications of a negative effect of the program on the outmigration of welfare prone individuals. This is however not robust to changes in comparison group nor in the sample of town districs. The conclusion that can be drawn is that there are no indications that activation programs lead to outmigration of welfare prone individuals.

Keywords: welfare migration, welfare-to-work, difference-in-differencein-differences JEL: H53, H70, I38, R23

<sup>†</sup>The Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU), P.O. Box 513, SE 751 20 Uppsala, Sweden; karin.edmark@ifau.uu.se

<sup>\*</sup>I am grateful for useful comments and suggestions from Matz Dahlberg, Sören Blomquist, Hanna Ågren, Eva Mörk, Björn Öckert, Tuomas Pekkarinen, Mikael Elinder and seminar participants at the Department of Economics, Uppsala University, at the Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU), at the 2007 IIPF Congress at the University of Warwick, and at the 2007 IEB Summer School on Fiscal Federalism at the University of Barcelona.

# Contents

1	Introduction	3				
<b>2</b>	Description of the activation programs					
3	B Theoretical framework					
4	Data	12				
	4.1 Activation programs	12				
	4.2 Town districts	14				
	4.3 Target and comparison groups	15				
5	Graphical analysis	18				
6	Estimation strategy	19				
7	Results	23				
	7.1 Full set of town districts	23				
	7.2 Sensitivity analysis: varying the set of town districts	27				
	7.2.1 Limiting the sample to the six poorest town districts	27				
	7.2.2 Comparing two representative town districts	29				
8	Concluding remarks	31				
A	Appendix	35				
	A.1 Survey to the social service units of the town districts	35				
	A.2 Graphs outmigration	38				

# 1 Introduction

The increasing numbers of welfare benefit recipients has given rise to a new trend in the welfare benefit policy of the Western world, in the form of a shift in focus from the rights to the obligations of recipients of welfare. In the U.S., as well as in many European countries, policies have been implemented that restrict the availability of welfare benefits, for example by introducing time limits or by conditioning benefit receipt on participation in job search or job training programs. Such policies are often described by the term "workfare", since they require that the recipients to some extent work for their welfare benefits (see e.g. Blomberg et al. (2006)).

Sweden is no exception to this trend. In 1998, a change in the Social Service Act enabled local municipalities and town districts to strengthen the rules for benefit eligibility, by conditioning benefit receipt on participation in programs for job search and job training. The law has been used by several municipalities and town districts to implement a new type of labour market program for recipients of welfare benefits that are capable of working, so called activation programs. The implementation of such programs is highly decentralized: the municipalities, or, in case of larger towns, the town districts, are responsible for the decision of whether or not to start a program, as well as for the program design.

Welfare caseloads have fallen dramatically in many town districts that have implemented activation programs, something that is often interpreted as a sign of success of the activation policy. However, no study has yet confirmed that it is the activation programs that have increased the employment rates among recipients of welfare<sup>1</sup>, and there is in fact little information on what happens to the individuals that end the program. For example, a survey on the Stockholm town district Skärholmen points out that information on the cause for ending the activation program is lacking for as much of 56% of the participants, and that only 18% state that they are employed after the program (see Thorén (2005)). Similar figures are given in Ekström (2005), who studies the same town district and also notes that the third most common category is "having moved from the town district": 11% state this as the cause for ending the program.

We hence do not know if the activation programs have helped parti-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While there have been a number of evaluations of single activation programs, these have been descriptive in character, and have not been able to isolate program effects from for example business cycle effects.

cipants to become employed, or if the reduction in welfare caseloads is due to other factors, such as improved labour market conditions in general or even to outmigration of welfare prone individuals from municipalities and districts that have implemented stricter activation policies.

This paper tests if the implementation of activation programs in Stockholm town districts affected the moving choices of welfare prone individuals. The fact that the implementation of such programs increases the obligations of recipients of welfare, suggests that it would increase the likelihood that welfare prone individuals move from a town district that has an activation program. However, it is also possible that the services of the program are appreciated by the participants, and that the effect on migration goes the other way. The expected aggregate effect on migration is hence unknown, and depends on how the individuals value the stricter rules and loss of leisure time against the services of the program. If a large share of the target population avoids the program by moving, the effectiveness of the program to reduce welfare benefit dependency is naturally diminished. Evaluating whether this is the case is therefore interesting from a policy perspective.

An important prerequisite for the hypothesis of welfare migration is that welfare prone individuals are not restricted from moving, for example due to housing constraints. Considering the tight housing market in the Stockholm area, this is an important issue for this study. However, looking at the sample of this study, we see that welfare prone individuals seem to be even more mobile than the rest of the population: 9 percent of the individuals that receive welfare benefits at some point during the year, move between town districts during the year, while the corresponding figure for those that do not receive benefits is 6.4 percent.<sup>2</sup>

The previous literature on migration responses to local welfare benefit policy, has in general focused on the effects of differences in local welfare benefit generosity, and often use American state level data. The evidence of this literature is mixed: some studies estimate large welfare migration, while other studies report no effects.<sup>3</sup>. The results from the recent, methodologically more credible, studies, however suggest that welfare generosity does affect migration, but that the effect is rather small (see e.g. McKinnish (2005) and McKinnish (2007), Gelbach (2004), and

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  For reasons that are given in footnote 16, individuals that have immigrated to Sweden during the last three years are excluded from the sample.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  See Meyer (2000) and Moffitt (1992) for overviews of the early literature.

Meyer (2000)). The exception is Fiva (2007), who finds large migration effects when studying Norwegian municipalities.

The only previous paper, to my knowledge, that tests for migration responses to stricter rules for welfare benefit eligibility is Kaestner et al. (2001), who test if the introduction of time limits, financial sanctions for non-compliance, and strict work eligibility rules in US states affected outmigration from the state. They compare the migration response among groups of women that differ in the propensity to receive welfare benefits, and find that the use of time limits increased outmigration among welfare prone individuals. No separate effects could however be estimated for financial sanction or work exemption policies, since the states using such policies were also using time limits.

In contrast to other studies of welfare migration, Kaestner et al. (2001) also study the situation *after* migration has taken place, as a further test of the cause for moving. Interestingly, they find that many of those that moved from the more strict states, were employed after the move. This result may suggest increased labour market mobility in the states that have implemented the stricter rules. However, an alternative explanation is that the moves were not at all related to differences in the welfare benefit policy, but rather to different employment possibilities. For example, it can be the case that jurisdictions that experience a declining economic situation are more willing implement stricter welfare benefit rules. If so, moves that look like welfare migration may in fact be motivated by an unfavorable labor market. This highlights the difficulties of controlling for other factors that affect migration. However, controlling for the characteristics of all possible moving-combinations is in general not feasible.

In this study, there is no need to control for varying labour market characteristics of the local jurisdictions, since all individuals live within the same municipality, i.e. in the same local labour market area. An individual who finds a job in another town district does not have to move, since one can easily commute within the municipality. For the purpose of this study, it is also important to point out that all individuals face the same welfare benefit level, since this is set at the municipal level. By limiting the analysis to Stockholm town districts, we minimize the risk of omitted variable bias due to differences in local characteristics, and can hence pinpoint the effect of work requirements on migration. In addition, the fact that merely a short-distance move is necessary in order to end up under a different benefit policy, makes the migration hypothesis a plausible story. It is for example likely that individuals are better informed of the welfare benefit policies of the town districts in the vicinity, and that moving costs are lower for short-distance moves.

The fact that the starting year of the activation programs differs among the town districts in our sample, means that two sources of variation can be exploited to identify the effect of the program on the moving choices of welfare prone individuals. First, we can compare the moving choices of welfare prone individuals before and after the law revision, in town districts that did and did not start an activation program after the revision. in a district-level difference-in-differences analysis. Second, we can add a further component to the analysis, and compare the migration differencein-differences estimates for groups that differ in the propensity to receive welfare benefits. The idea is that the moving behaviour of individuals with a high propensity to use welfare will be affected by the programs, while individuals that are not welfare prone will not be affected. Combining this approach with the district level analysis yields a difference-in-differencein-differences estimator. This approach gives good possibilities to control for the effects of unobserved trends that affect migration. This is an advantage, compared to most other studies of welfare migration, which rely on comparison group based difference-in-differences analysis.

The results of this study give some indications of a *negative* migration response to the activation programs among welfare prone individuals; i.e. welfare prone individuals are *less* likely to move from the town district, compared to less welfare prone groups, when there is an activation program in place. This is contrary to the positive welfare migration effects that are found in most previous studies. However, the result is not robust to changes in comparison group nor to changes in the sample of town districts. The conclusion that can be drawn from the study is hence that there are at least no indications that the activation programs lead to outmigration of welfare prone individuals.

The outline of the remaining paper is as follows: section 2 describes the background of the activation programs, section 3 provides a simple theoretical framework for the effects of the activation program on migration, and section 4 describes the data and the definition of comparison groups. Section 5 contains a description of the empirical specification, section 6 provides a graphical analysis, and section 7 shows the results. Finally, section 8 concludes.

#### $\mathbf{2}$ Description of the activation programs

This section will give a short background and description of the activation programs. As was described in the introduction, the starting point for the implementation of the programs was the 1998 revision of the Social Service Act. The Act gave town districts and municipalities increased authority to demand that recipients of welfare participate in activities such as job training or other labour market related activities.<sup>4</sup> The law was first and foremost intended for young persons under the age of 25, but has in practise been applied to all individuals capable of working, regardless of age (see Socialstyrelsen (2005)).

The new regulation has been used by several town districts and municipalities to implement activation programs<sup>5</sup>. These are targeted to recipients of welfare that are capable of working, and generally consist of scheduled job search combined with job training. Non-compliance with the program requirements results in total or partial withdrawal of welfare benefits.

Local labour market programs for recipients of welfare existed also before the revision of the Social Service Act. What differentiates the activation programs from the previous programs is first and foremost the clear connection between program participation and receipt of welfare benefits. In addition, while the previous programs were often targeted to some subgroup of benefit recipients, such as immigrant women, the new activation programs in general encompass all recipients of welfare that are able to work.

As described in the previous section, this paper focuses on the town districts in the municipality of Stockholm. During the period under study there are 18 town districts in Stockholm<sup>6</sup>, each of which is run by a political board. The town district is the lowest administrative unit, and is responsible for the implementation of the greater part of municipal services, including social services. The welfare benefit norm is however set at the municipal level, and is hence the same across all town districts in our sample. It is only whether the town district has an activation program

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See 4-5§ in the 4th chapter of the Social Service Act (SoL 2001:453).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Salonen and Ulmestig (2004) estimate that there were about 800 programmes of this type in 2002, which means that a municipality often has several different types of programs. For example, there is often a special program for young persons under the age of 25. <sup>6</sup> In 2007 the number of town districts was reduced to 14.

or not that differs between the districts in our sample, and not the level of benefits received. This means that we can identify effects on migration of stricter rules for benefit eligibility separately from effects of different benefit generosity.

Since the detailed contents of the activation programs vary across town districts, it is difficult to give a detailed over-all picture of the activation programs in our sample. However, we will here give a short description of one of the most well-known cases, the activation program of the town district Skärholmen, in order to illustrate the contents of a typical activation program. Skärholmen was one of the first town districts to start an activation program, and has served as model for other town districts and municipalities.

The Skärholmen activation program requires participants to spend 3 hours daily in program activities, in a rotating schedule that alternates between mornings and afternoons, in order to complicate black work outside the program. The first period in the program is spent on individual job search in the facilities of the program. How long this is varies between individuals. Some individuals, who are assessed to be in need of job training, leave for job training/practise almost immediately, while others may spend up to a maximum of 3 months in job search. Each participant is assigned a personal job coach, who provides individual job search assistance. The program furthermore provides computers for job search on the internet and for writing job applications, and the participants can use telephone and envelopes and postal stamps free of charge. If the program participant fails to find a job during this period, he/she gets a job training proposal from the program officials. This can be in the street cleaning team or some other activity that is arranged within the program, or it can be at an ordinary workplace. There is no limit on the time period that an individual can participate in the program.<sup>7</sup>

Activation programs in other town districts are similar to the Skärholmen case in the broad design of the program. However, features such as the required attendance varies across districts. This will be more discussed in section 4.2, which describes how the data on activation programs was collected and defined.

This section has given an overview of the activation programs in the Stockholm municipality. In the next section, we will analyze their potential

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  See e.g. Ekström (2005) and Thorén (2005).

effects on migration.

## **3** Theoretical framework

In order to analyze how the utility of a recipient of welfare benefits is affected by the introduction of an activation program, we develop a simple two-period model. In the model, the individual is either unemployed and receives welfare benefits, or is employed and receives a wage.<sup>8</sup> The activation program is assumed to affect the utility of a recipient of welfare in two ways: first, by decreasing the leisure time available to the individual, and second, by increasing the probability of finding a job in the next time period.

We start by assuming that the utility level for an individual who is unemployed and receives welfare benefits, in the case of no activation program, depends solely on the amount of leisure time, l, and the welfare benefit level, b:

$$U^i = u(l, b), \tag{1}$$

while an individual who has a job and does not receive welfare benefits has the following utility level:

$$U^{i} = u(l-h, y).$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

In equation (2), the amount of leisure is reduced with the time spent working, h, which is assumed to be constant, and y is the net of tax wage income, where y > b is assumed to hold. Having a job hence gives a higher income but also reduces the leisure time.

Let us assume that the individual is an unemployed recipient of welfare benefits in period one, with a probability of having a job in period two equal to p. We assume that time preferences are captured by the individual time discount factor  $\rho_i$ , and write the expected two-period utility as:

$$U^{i} = u_{t}(l,b) + \frac{1}{1+\rho_{i}} \left[ pu_{t+1}(l-h,y) + (1-p) u_{t+1}(l,b) \right]$$
(3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We hence assume that a recipient of welfare benefits does not work. This is a reasonable assumption, since the activation programs are directed to unemployed individuals. In addition, during 1994-2003, among all individuals in the municipality of Stockholm, aged 18-65, the share of employed among those that received welfare benefits at least some time during the year was 31%, to be compared to 77% among the corresponding population that did not recieve welfare benefits at any time during the year.

How will the introduction of an activation program affect the utility level of our representative individual? The program affects the individual utility in two ways: First, it reduces the leisure time in case of unemployment by g, which is the time spent in the program. Second, participation in the program increases the probability of finding a job through the job search and job training activities, so p is also a function of the time spent in the program, g:

$$U^{i} = u_{t}(l-g,b) + \frac{1}{1+\rho_{i}} \left[ p\left(g\right) u_{t+1}(l-h,y) + (1-p\left(g\right)) u_{t+1}(l-g,b) \right]$$
(4)

The effect of the program on the utility level of the individual is shown in equation (5), where equation (4) is differentiated with respect to g. In period one, there is a negative effect through the reduction in the amount of leisure time. In period two, there are however both positive and negative effects: the increased probability of finding a job and hence having a higher income has a positive effect on the utility level, whereas if the individual remains on welfare benefit the effect in period 2 is negative, as in period 1, through the reduction in leisure time. If the utility levels in case of unemployment and employment are equal, i.e. equations (1) and (2) equal, the effect is unambiguously negative, while if the utility of working is higher, the total effect can be either positive or negative. It can be noted that the more the individual values current against future utility, reflected in a higher value of  $\rho_i$ , the more relative weight will be given to the negative effect of the activation program on the current utility level.

$$\frac{\partial U^{i}}{\partial g} = -\frac{\partial u_{t}(l-g,b)}{\partial (l-g)} + 
+ \frac{1}{1+\rho_{i}} \left[ \frac{p'(g) u_{t+1}(l-h,y) - p'(g) u_{t+1}(l-g,b)}{\left(p'(g) u_{t+1}(l-g,b) + (1-p(g)) \frac{\partial u_{t+1}(l-g,b)}{\partial (l-g)}\right)} \right]$$
(5)

Unless the positive and the negative effects cancel, the introduction of an activation program in the jurisdiction is hence expected to affect the utility level of the individual, negatively or positively. Will this affect the moving pattern of welfare prone individuals? If the utility-differential between living in a town district with and without an activation program is sufficiently large to outweigh the cost of moving, it is possible that the introduction of activation programs in some of the town districts will give rise to migration of the welfare-receiving population. We will then see more moves from the districts that have activation programs if the total effect on utility is negative, and to the same districts if the total effect on utility is positive. This is illustrated in equation (6), which shows the utility levels of town districts A and B, where B has an activation program, while A does not. The moving cost is denoted c. Importantly, since all town districts belong to the same labour market as well as have the same benefit level, so that y and b are the same in all districts, nothing else is assumed to affect the moving choices of the individuals. That is, it is only the presence of the activation program, g, that differs between  $U_B$  and  $U_A$ .

$$If \quad U_B^i - U_A^i > c \implies move \ to \ district \ B, \ and \ v.v.$$
(6)  
$$= \left( u_{B,t}(l-g,b) + \frac{1}{1+\rho_i} \left[ p(g) \ u_{B,t+1}(l-h,y) + (1-p(g)) \ u_{t+1}(l-g,b) \right] \right) \\ - \left( u_{A,t}(l,b) + \frac{1}{1+\rho_i} \left[ pu_{A,t+1}(l-h,y) + (1-p) \ u_{t+1}(l,b) \right] \right) \\ > c$$

Can we say anything about which result is more probable in practise – migration to of from a town district that has an activation program? Blomberg et al. (2006) have studied the attitudes among activation program participants in six Stockholm town districts, five out of which are included in the analysis of this paper. Their survey results give a mixed picture: while around half of the respondents are over-all positive to the services of the programs, the beliefs in the possibilities of the program to actually help them find a job is quite low: over half of the respondents think that the possibilities of the program to help them find a job are "very small" or "quite small". Less than a third believe that the chances of getting a job have increased due to the program. Furthermore, about 40 percent state that they would not take part in the program if participation were not mandatory for benefit receipt, while 30 percent state that they would.

The attitudes among participants also seem to vary between town districts. The results in Blomberg et al. (2006) suggests that the residents in Skärholmen are most dissatisfied with the activation program. Considering the findings in Thorén (2005), one might suspect that this is due to a lack of resources. She argues that the personal job-search coaches in the activation program of Skärholmen have too many clients and that there are too few computers available to enable efficient job search. If this is the case, there may even be negative effects of program participation on the probability of finding a job in this case.

# 4 Data

The study uses individual register data, which contains information on the amount of welfare benefits received, age, sex, country of birth, education level, disposable income, family situation (civil status and number of children), and employment status for all individuals aged  $18-65^9$ . The data covers 10 years of pooled cross-sections during the period 1994–2003. This section starts by describing the data collection and definition of the activation programs, and continues with describing the town districts of the sample, as well as the target and comparison groups that are used in the analysis.

#### 4.1 Activation programs

The information that is used in this study to define the starting year of the activation programs was gathered in a survey to the social service units in all town districts in the municipality of Stockholm. The survey contains questions on the starting year and basic contents of the activation programs, as well as on local labour market programs for recipients of welfare that were in place during the years preceding the revision of the Social Service Act.<sup>10</sup> The surveys were in most cases complemented with telephone interviews.<sup>11</sup>

Based on the survey information, we define a town district as having an activation program if it has a program: 1) that has scheduled activity daily or almost daily; 2) that encompasses all individuals capable of working; and 3) where receipt of welfare benefits is strictly conditional on program participation.

Table 1 shows the starting year and minimum hours of weekly attendance of the activation programs in the town districts of our sample. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Data on individuals comes from Statistics Sweden.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The survey form can be found in the appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Additional information was obtained for the following town districts: Kista, Rinkeby, Spånga-Tensta, Hässelby-Vällingby, Enskede-Årsta, Farsta, Vantör, Hägersten and Skärholmen.

six richest town districts of the municipality are excluded from the analysis, since the share of welfare recipients in these districts is very low<sup>12</sup>. In addition, one town district, Skarpnäck, is excluded due to the difficulties of defining a starting year for the activation program. The sample hence consists of 11 town districts.

Town District	Activation program	Hours/week
Rinkeby	1998	8
Skärholmen <sup>*</sup>	1999	15
Kista	2001	9
Farsta	2001	4
Älvsjö	2002	15
Spånga-Tensta <sup>**</sup>	2003	5
Liljeholmen	2003	15
Hägersten	2003	15
Hässelby-Vällingby	2004	8
$\mathbf{Enskede}\operatorname{-}\!\operatorname{Arsta}$	2004	4
Vantör	2004	4

Table 1: Starting year and weekly required attendance of activation programs

\*The activation program in Skärholmen started on a small scale in the autumn of 1998. From 1999, the program however operated at a large scale, which is why we choose this as the starting year.

\*\*Spånga-Tensta had an ambitious local labour market program in place during 1997-2000, although this cannot be characterized as an activation program. We therefore test the robustness of the results for the exclusion of Spånga-Tensta throughout the analysis.

As can be seen in the table, the required hours of attendance varies significantly between the town districts, and it is therefore possible that the migration effects of the program varies between districts. We will take account of this in the analysis by, in addition to using the full sample of town districts, also estimate the migration regression for only two town districts: one with a strict activation program, and one with no program during the period.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  These are Kungsholmen, Norrmalm, Östermalm, Maria-Gamla Stan, Katarina-Sofia and Bromma.

It can be added that most of the town districts that have low hours of required attendance have implemented activation programs during the last year of the sample period, 2003, or even outside of the sample period. These will be used as control groups for having no activation program in the regressions (this is the case for example for Enskede-Årsta and Vantör, where only 4 hours of weekly attendance is required).

#### 4.2 Town districts

For the empirical investigation, it is important to know if there are large differences between the town districts that need to be considered in the analysis. This section therefore gives a short description of the 11 town districts in the study.<sup>13</sup>

Table 2 shows descriptive statistics for a set of socioeconomic characteristics for the town districts in the sample. The variables are based on our register data on individuals aged 18–65, and show the average values over the period 1994–2003. Welfare denotes the share of the individuals that received welfare benefits at some point during the year, Move out is the share that moved from the town district to some other district within the municipality of Stockholm, Pop 18–65 is the number of individuals aged 18–65, and Immigr shows the share of individuals that are born outside Sweden. Disp Income is the average disposable income of inhabitants in the town district, and Empl denotes the share of inhabitants that are employed.

As can be seen in the table it was generally the poorer town districts, with high rates of welfare recipients, low employment rates and a high share of immigrant population, that started activation programs early on. This suggests that it may be important to control for district-specific factors that can have affected the decision to start a program and that are at the same time correlated with migration. As will be further discussed below, we will use several difference-in-differences based approaches that control for town district-specific fixed effects and town district-specific time trends. In addition, district-specific covariates for the share of immigrant population, average disposable income and employment level will be included in some of the specifications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> As was mentioned in the previous section, the six richest town districts are excluded from the analysis, since the shares of welfare recipients in these districts are very low, and one town district, Skarpnäck, is excluded due to the difficulties of defining a starting year for the activation program.

Town District	Welfare	Move	Pop	Immigr	Disp	Empl
		out	$18 - \overline{6}5$		Income	
Rinkeby	0.35	0.07	86,855	0.80	83,500	0.41
Skärholmen	0.14	0.06	169,228	0.42	118,500	0.64
Kista	0.17	0.05	174,231	0.53	120,600	0.63
Farsta	0.11	0.05	$243,\!016$	0.21	$133,\!200$	0.71
Älvsjö	0.05	0.06	112,856	0.15	147,400	0.78
Spånga-Tensta	0.18	0.06	188,605	0.47	122,700	0.63
Liljeholmen	0.07	0.09	180,212	0.18	142,300	0.74
Hägersten	0.06	0.07	168,880	0.17	144,700	0.75
Hässelby-Vällingby	0.07	0.05	$322,\!649$	0.20	$145,\!000$	0.76
${ m Enskede}-{ m Årsta}$	0.06	0.08	258,024	0.18	145,200	0.76
Vantör	0.13	0.07	192,120	0.28	126,700	0.69

Table 2: Town district characteristics

#### 4.3 Target and comparison groups

As discussed the in the introduction, we will follow the previous literature on welfare migration and compare the moving choices of more and less welfare prone individuals. How shall the more welfare prone target groups and the less welfare prone comparison groups be defined? Meyer (2000) points out that one should avoid defining the target and comparison groups based on actual benefit receipt, since this can give rise to so called participation bias. This type of bias arises since the payoff of applying for welfare benefits varies with the benefit policy of the jurisdiction. In the case of our town districts, it is possible that applying for welfare benefits is less attractive in town districts that have an activation program, since benefit receipt in this case requires active participation in the program. This means that individuals that did not receive welfare benefits in a more strict town district, may choose to apply for benefits once they are in a less strict district, even though the motives for moving there were not related to the local welfare benefit policy.

Most studies deal with this type of bias by defining target and comparison groups that differ in welfare propensity based on characteristic that are *not* affected by the welfare benefit generosity. We follow this approach and compare the migration responses to differences in welfare benefit policy in several groups that differ in the likelihood of being recipients of welfare benefits. The hypothesis is that more welfare-prone groups will respond to policy differentials by moving, while individuals that are comparable in every sense except being less welfare prone, will not.

Ideally, we would like to compare individuals that are similar in every sense but the likelihood to seek welfare benefits. However, if we make the comparison groups too similar, we risk to also eliminate differences in welfare-propensity. We hence face a trade-off: on the one hand we want the groups to be sufficiently similar to eliminate the risk for omitted variable bias, on the other hand, sufficiently different to capture differences in welfare-propensity. The same trade-off applies to the question of how many individual covariates that shall be included in the regressions. We want to control for all characteristics that differ between the groups and that may affect the moving decision, but not for important determinants for the likelihood of receiving welfare. Our strategy is to use several comparison groups, which differ from the welfare prone group to varying degrees, and to show results both with and without individual covariates.

As suggested by Meyer (1995) using several comparison groups can also be useful as a means to reduce the risk of bias due to unobserved group-specific trends. The idea is that if the comparison groups are sufficiently different from each other, then we can also expect them to yield different biases. Similar results from different comparison groups hence strengthen the case that the result is due to the introduction of the activation program, and not just the effect of some omitted factor. However, the fact that we want all comparison groups to be comparable to the target group, as previously discussed, naturally puts a limit to how much the comparison groups can differ.

Based on these considerations, we define a set of target and control groups, based on factors that affect the probability to receive welfare benefits, but that are not affected by the welfare benefit policy. In addition, we base our comparison groups on factors that predict long-term welfare dependency. According to our data, and to Spahic (2002), an individual is more likely to be a long-term welfare recipient if he/she is: young, foreign-born; a single mother; low-educated; or socially unstable, for example being a drug addict or suffering from mental illness.<sup>14</sup> Based on this information, we define two categories of welfare prone target groups: first, being a Swedish-born, single mother (with children living at home),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Spahic defines long-term recipiency as receiving benefits during at least 10 months during a period of 2 years, while we look at those that receive welfare benefits during both 1996 and 1995, or both 1996 and 1993, irrespective of the time on welfare.

and second, being born in a non-Western country<sup>15</sup>.

The comparison groups for the two sets of target groups are defined as follows: First, we compare our group of single mothers with single or cohabiting women without children, as well as with married or cohabiting mothers.<sup>16</sup> As in the case of single mothers, we only include Swedishborn individuals. Second, we compare individuals born in a non-Western country with individuals born in a Western country (except Sweden), and with individuals born in Sweden, respectively. Since it is plausible that the migration pattern of recent immigrants differs from other residents', we exclude those that have immigrated during the last 3 years from the sample.<sup>17</sup> In addition, during the first years in the country, refugees are in general entitled to compensation for participation in Swedish and introductory courses. The compensation is in about the same amount as the welfare benefit level, and is included in our data on welfare benefits. Unless we exclude recent refugees from the sample, our data will therefore overstate the likelihood that an individual born in a foreign country is a recipient of welfare.

Table 3 shows the average welfare participation rates and the average migration rates for the different groups over the period 1994–2003, using data on all individuals aged 18–65 in the 11 town districts of our sample. Column 1, *Obs*, shows the number of observations, and column 2, *Welfare*, the share of individuals that receive welfare benefits (of any amount). As can be seen in the table, the likelihood of being a recipient of welfare benefits is clearly higher for the more welfare prone groups.

The table also shows the average share that moves from the town district during a year, *Move out*; the average age of the individuals in our sample, Age; and the average shares with low and high levels of education, respectively, *Low* and *High*. Low education level is defined as having finished at most secondary education, while a high education level is defined as having finished higher education. There is some variation between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This category contains all countries except Europe, North America and Oceania.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The reason for including cohabiting women in the former group, is that our data does not allow us to separate single women without children from cohabiting women without children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> One reason for this is that the decision of where to settle may change as the information about the new country increases, and that this may lead to more moves taking place during the first years. In addition, refugees to Sweden in the early 1990s were not free to decide the municipality of placement. They were however free to move immediately after placement. We can therefore expect some adjustments in the settlements of refugees, for example moves to municipalities with a large number of nationals.

groups in these variables, particularly in the education level. As discussed in section 4.3, it is not obvious it is not obvious that we want to control for these individual characteristics. Our solution is to show results both with and without controls for the age- and education structure. We will use age dummy variables, with one dummy for each five-year age category, and the education dummy variables equal the variables for low and high education that are given in the table.

Comparison group	Obs	Welfare	Move out	Age	Educ	ation
		-		Ŭ	Low	High
Single mothers	115,446	0.15	0.06	38.6	0.51	0.24
Single/cohabiting women	264,293	0.05	0.09	39.6	0.49	0.34
without children	,					
Married/cohabiting	258,828	0.04	0.04	38.7	0.47	0.38
mothers	,					
Born in:						
Non-western country	314,030	0.29	0.07	37.9	0.41	0.26
Western country	225,525	0.11	0.04	45.8	0.44	0.27
Sweden	1,476,493	0.06	0.06	40.61	0.48	0.32

Table 3: Description data on welfare prone and comparison groups.

There is also a considerable variation in sample sizes. The smallest of the groups, Single mothers, contains about 115,000 observations, while the largest group, Swedish-born, contains almost 1.5 million observations. These differences naturally affect the likelihood that a significant result is obtained. Since the hypothesis to be tested is that the activation program has an effect on the target group, but not on the comparison groups, it is however comfortable that the comparison groups are in all cases but one larger than the target groups.

# 5 Graphical analysis

Before moving on to the regression analysis, it is interesting to look at the migration pattern of the individuals in our sample graphically. By plotting the yearly outmigration rates from town districts that started activation programs early and late, and for the different target and comparison groups, respectively, we can see if a change in the moving choices is visible for welfare prone individuals after the introduction of the activation programs.

We start by dividing the town districts into four groups: The first group consists of the early program-starters, Rinkeby and Skärholmen, who started activation programs in 1998 and 1999. We denote this group Td99, since we expect to see an effect on the migration of welfare prone individuals around 1999 in these districts. The second group is denoted Td01, for the same reason, and consists of Kista, Farsta and Älvsjö, out of which Kista and Farsta started activation programs in 2001, and Älvsjö started a program in 2002. Finally, we construct one group, Td03, with the town districts that started activation programs in 2003: Spånga-Tensta, Liljeholmen, and Hägersten; and one group, Td04, with the town districts that started activation programs in 2004 (i.e. outside the sample period of this study): Hässelby-Vällingby, Enskede-Årsta and Vantör.

Graphs 1-6, which can be found in the Appendix, show the trends in the share that moves from the town district for the four groups of town districts. As in the rest of the paper, only moves within the Stockholm municipality are included. Separate graphs are shown for each of the target and control groups.

The graphs give no clear indication of a change in the migration decisions of welfare prone individuals after the introduction of activation programs in the town district groups. On the contrary, the over-all impression is that the outmigration for the respective group follows relatively similar trends in the four town district groups.

In spite of the lacking evidence on welfare migration from the graphs, we move on to the regression analysis, where we have better possibilities to control for other factors, such as district specific trends that may affect the migration choices of individuals.

## 6 Estimation strategy

As discussed in the previous sections, the data contains different sources of variation – between town districts and between groups of individuals. We start by using the town district variation in a difference-in-differences analysis (DD), and then add the group variation in welfare propensity to construct a difference-in-difference-in-differences estimator (DDD).

Before the law revision of 1998, there was no activation program in any town district. After 1998, most town districts have chosen to implement activation programs, but the starting year varies between districts, as was illustrated in Table 2. This means that we can compare the migration rates before and after the implementation of activation programs in the different town districts.

It is illustrative to describe this estimation strategy in a table. Let us, for simplicity, assume that there are only two town districts and two time periods. Let us also assume that one of the districts, denoted *Program*, starts an activation program in period 2, while the other district, *No program*, does not. How is outmigration from the *Program*-district affected by the start of the activation program? One way to measure this could be to look at the difference in outmigration before and after the program start, in the town district that starts a program, i.e. (B - A) in Table 4. This estimate however also captures other factors that change between the two periods, and is hence likely to give a biased measure of the program-effect.

The DD-method is based on the idea that the influence of other factors can be controlled for by comparison with a town district which is comparable in every aspect that affects outmigration, but that has not implemented the program. An unbiased estimate of the effect of the activation program on outmigration can hence be obtained by taking the difference in the migration change over the two periods between the *Program*-district and the *No Program*-district, (B - A) - (D - C).

Period / Town district	Before	After	After-Before
Program	A	B	(B-A)
No program	C	D	(D-C)
Difference-in-differences (DD):			(B-A) - (D-C)

Table 4: Description Difference-in-differences

The DD-estimator in Table 4 hinges on the assumption that any unobserved trends in migration are the same in both town districts. By adding the comparison of groups that differ in the propensity to receive welfare benefits to the analysis, this assumption can be relaxed. This is done by taking the difference of the differences-in-differences-estimates for the target and the control group, i.e.  $DDD = DD_T - DD_C$ , as is illustrated in Table 5. The idea is that the non-welfare prone group will be similarly affected as the welfare prone group by unobserved town districts factors, but unaffected by the activation program. Subtracting the outmigration rates of this group will hence control for effects of unobserved town specific trends, and the resulting estimate will measure only the effect of the activation program. The important assumption in this case is that any unobserved town district-specific factors affect the migration-decisions in both groups similarly.

Which of the approaches, DD or DDD, is more appropriate to use in this setting? As described above, DDD has the advantage that it controls for town district specific unobserved migration trends that affect the welfare prone and the comparison groups alike. Since we cannot rule out that such trends are present, we will use the DDD-method. However, if the unobserved migration trends are in fact similar across town districts, adding the comparison group based comparison to the analysis is an unnecessary step. We will therefore also show the results of the DD-estimation. As we shall see in the next sections, both estimators yield fairly similar results. This is a reassuring result, which suggests that unobserved migration trends are probably not a big problem in this case. However, none of the used methods can control for trends that differ both between groups and regions.

	Period / Town district	Before	After	After-Before
Target	Program	$A_T$	$B_T$	$(B_T - A_T)$
	No program	$C_T$	$D_T$	$(D_T - C_T)$
$DD_T$ :				$(B_T - A_T) - (D_T - C_T)$
Control	Program	$A_C$	$B_C$	$(B_C - A_C)$
	No program	$C_C$	$D_C$	$(D_C - C_C)$
$DD_C$ :				$(B_C - A_C) - (D_C - C_C)$
DDD =	$DD_T - DD_C$ :			$\left( \left( B_T - A_T \right) - \left( D_T - C_T \right) \right)$
				$-((B_C - A_C) - (D_C - C_C))$

Table 5: Description Difference-in-difference-in-differences

The DD- and the DDD-estimators will be used to estimate the effect of the activation programs on outmigration from the town districts. The description above assumed only two town districts and two time periods. In this study, there are several town districts, and they start activation programs during different years. The intuition behind the DD-estimator for our data is however the same as for the two-period case; i.e. it controls for time-varying factors that affect all town districts similarly, and it controls for fixed town district characteristics. The DDD-estimator furthermore controls for town district-specific trends, through the inclusion of district-by-year fixed effects.

The resulting DD-estimation equation, corresponding to Table 4, for our pooled cross-section for the individuals in 11 town districts over 10 years, is given in equation (7):

$$probit(move_{ijt}) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 A_j + \beta_2 D_t + \beta_3 prog_{jt} + \beta_4 X_{ijt} + \beta_5 Z_{jt} + \varepsilon_{ijt}.$$
 (7)

In equation (7), the dependent variable  $move_{ijt}$  is a dummy variable which equals one if individual *i* moves out of town district *j* in year *t*, and zero otherwise. (As was described in the previous sections, only moves within the municipality of Stockholm are included.) The main explanatory variable is the dummy variable  $prog_{jt}$ , which equals one if town district *j* has an activation program in year *t*, and is zero otherwise. A positive value of  $\beta_3$  hence indicates that more individuals move out of the town district after the start of the program, while a negative coefficient value indicates that less individuals move out of the district when there is an activation program in place. Fixed town district effects are denoted  $A_j$ and year effects are denoted  $D_t$ . Finally, a set of individual covariates for the age- and education level,  $X_{ijt}$ , is included, as well as a set of town district level covariates,  $Z_{jt}$ .

The DDD-estimator that adds the group based comparison to the DDestimator and which corresponds to Table 5, is given in equation  $(8)^{18}$ :

$$probit (move_{ijt}) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 T_{ij} + \beta_2 A_j + \beta_3 D_t + \beta_4 (T_{ij} \cdot A_j) + \beta_5 (T_{ij} \cdot D_t) + \beta_6 (A_j \cdot D_t) + \beta_7 prog_{jt} + \beta_8 (T_{ij} \cdot prog_{jt}) + \beta_9 X_{ijt} + \beta_{10} Z_{jt} + \varepsilon_{ijt}.$$
(8)

In equation (8), coefficient  $\beta_8$  is of primary interest. It measures the extent to which the migration response to an activation program differs between the target and the control group, where the dummy variable  $T_{ij}$  is one if the individual belongs to the more welfare prone target group. As in equation (7),  $A_j$  and  $D_t$  denote town district and year specific fixed effects,  $X_{ijt}$  contains individual age- and education dummy variables, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Similar estimation strategies are used in e.g. Yelowitz (1995) and Ruhm (1998).

 $Z_{jt}$  denotes a set of town district covariates. Equation (8) furthermore includes the second-order interactions between the control group dummy and the district and year fixed effects,  $(T_{ij} \cdot A_j)$  and  $(T_{ij} \cdot D_t)$ . Finally, town-district specific year effects,  $(A_j \cdot D_t)$ , control for year effects that differ between the town districts.

The following section present the results of the estimations of equations (7) and (8).

# 7 Results

This following sections show the results from running the estimations described in the previous section. Results will be given both for the full sample of 11 town districts, and for alternative samples.

#### 7.1 Full set of town districts

We start by estimating the DD-equation in (7) on our two groups of welfare prone individuals: single mothers and individuals born in non-Western countries, respectively, using the data set on the 11 town districts that were described in section 4.1. As discussed in the previous sections, we expect that the moving decisions of welfare prone individuals will be affected by the activation program, however, the direction of the effect will depend on whether the individual views the program as something primarily negative or positive.

It is informative to also estimate equation (7) for the control groups. Since these are less welfare prone than the target groups, we expect to see smaller effects of the program on these groups. A different result is an indication either of miss-specification of the control- and target-groups, or of bias due to some omitted town district specific factor, which is correlated with the district's decision to start a program.

The results of the DD-estimations are shown in the first sections of Table 6 and 7. The tables show the marginal effects of the activation program on the probability to move from the district, for an individual with average characteristics. The results come from separate regressions for each target and comparison group. The specification in column (1) includes the activation program dummy together with fixed town district specific effects and year effects. In specification (2), the individual age-and education dummy variables are added, and specification (3) also includes the town district specific covariates.

Table 6: Probit estimates, marginal effect of activation program on outmigration, target and comparison groups based on civil status and motherhood

		(1)	(2)	(3)
DD-estimates	Single mothers (SM)	004	005**	005*
		(.0028)	(.0025)	(.0028)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-26388.706	-24831.946	-24831.708
		n = 115446	n=114278	n=114278
	Single/cohabiting women (SW)	.002	001	.001
		(.0024)	(.0022)	(.0023)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-81442.557	-74977.421	-74971.562
		n=264293	n=262748	n=262748
	Married mothers (MM)	002	003**	002
		(.0015)	(.0013)	(.0014)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-41023.44	-37508.565	-37502.588
		n=258828	n=257565	n=257565
DDD-estimates	SM-SW	008*	006	
		(.0040)	(.0037)	
	Log pseudolikelihood	-107773.38	-99880.784	
		n=379739	n=377026	
	SM-MM	001	000	
		(.0028)	(.0025)	
	Log pseudolikelihood	-67364.334	-62364.931	
		n=374274	n=371843	
	Controls:			
	individual level covariates	no	yes	yes
	town district level covariates	no	no	yes

Note: The standard errors in parenthesis are robust to heteroscedasticity. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denote significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent level, respectively. Town district fixed effects and year fixed effects are included in all specifications. The DDDspecifications also includes district-by-year-effects.

		(1)	(2)	(3)
DD-estimates	Country of birth:			
	Non-Western country (NW)	001	002	.001
		(.0016)	(.0016)	(.0017)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-75683.204	-68675.945	-68666.048
		n=314030	n=290012	n=290012
	Western country (W)	002	002	.001
		(.0016)	(.0015)	(.0017)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-39218.682	-35883.777	-35872.489
		n=225525	n=214861	n=214861
	Sweden $(S)$	0003	002**	0004
		(.0008)	(.0007)	(.0008)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-332595.55	-307661.89	-307645.74
		n = 1476493	n = 1465322	n = 1465322
DDD-estimates	NW-W	.003	.002	
		(.0026)	(.0025)	
	Log pseudolikelihood	-114808.89	-104535.62	
		n=539555	n=504873	
	NW-S	.001	.003	
		(.0019)	(.0018)*	
	Log pseudolikelihood	-408140.34	-376864.89	
		n=1790523	n = 1755334	
	Controls:			
	individual level covariates	no	yes	yes
	town district level covariates	no	no	yes

Table 7: Probit estimates, marginal effect of activation program on outmigration, target and comparison groups based on country of birth

Note: The standard errors in parenthesis are robust to heteroscedasticity. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denote significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent level, respectively. Town district fixed effects and year fixed effects are included in all specifications. The DDDspecifications also includes district-by-year-effects.

Table 6 and 7 also show the results from the DDD-estimation in (8). As was discussed in section 6, an advantage with this approach is that the differential effects that are obtained are not affected by town district-specific trends that affect the target and control group similarly. The DDD-estimates were obtained by running separate regressions for each

comparison group together with the relevant target group, in order to facilitate the interpretation of the coefficients.

For the DDD-estimator the specification including town district covariates is however dropped due to multicollinearity. The effects of these variables are probably picked up by the town district-specific year effects.

The DD-results in Table 6 show a significant negative marginal effect of the activation program on outmigration of around -0.005 for single mothers, when individual characteristics are controlled for. This indicates that having an activation program reduces the probability that a single mother, with average characteristics, will move from the town district with 0.5 percentage points. This is a rather large effect, considering that the average yearly migration rate for this group is 6 percent. However, we also see a negative effect of about similar magnitude for married mothers in specification (2), although this effect is not significant as town district covariates are included. This indicates that the negative effect may not be due to the activation program, but to some other factor that affects single and married mothers alike.

Turning to the DD-estimates in Table 7, we see that negative marginal program effects are found also for the target and control groups based on country of birth, although in this case the effect is only significant in specification 2 for Swedish-born individuals. (That a significant effect is found for this group is not surprising, considering its large sample size.)

The DD-estimates hence yield negative point estimates for all groups, except for single/cohabiting women without children. Is it plausible that this is due to confounding district-specific trends that are correlated with the introduction of activation programs, and that affect outmigration in most of our target and control groups negatively? That is, can it be the case that the activation programs are started when town districts, for some reason, experience low outmigration? This is possible, although my prior beliefs would go the other way: that districts introduce stricter programs when the economic situation of the district is bad, and outmigration therefore plausibly high.

Turning to the DDD-estimates, the results in Table 6 show that the probability to move out of the town district is around 0.8 percentage points lower for single mothers if there is an activation program in place, compared to single/cohabiting women with no children. This effect is however only significant at the 10 percent level in specification (1), and turn insignificant as individual characteristics are controlled for. When comparing

single and married mothers, no significant differences in the program effect are found.

The DDD-estimates in Table 7 show a positive outmigration effect of the program for individuals born in a non-Western, country compared to Swedish-born, which is marginally significant as individual covariates are included in the specification. In contrast to the result for single mothers, this indicates that welfare prone individuals are more likely to move from a town district that has an activation program, which is consistent with the hypothesis that recipients of welfare try to avoid the obligation to participate in the program by moving.

Although it could be the case that there are heterogeneous effects of the program on different groups of welfare recipients, a more prudent interpretation of the results is probably preferable. As pointed out by Meyer (1995), the fact that the results vary with the choice of comparison group, suggests that the effects may be due to some comparison groupspecific and district-specific omitted variable that is not controlled for in our estimations. One way to reduce the risk for this type of bias is to reduce the sample to districts that are as similar as possible in factors that are assumed to affect migration. In the next section, we do this by selecting only the six poorest of the town districts.

#### 7.2 Sensitivity analysis: varying the set of town districts

#### 7.2.1 Limiting the sample to the six poorest town districts

Table 2 in section 4 showed systematic differences in the socioeconomic variables between town districts that implemented activation programs early after the 1998 law revision, and town districts that implemented programs late during the period under study. In order to obtain a more comparable group of districts, we select only the six poorest town districts and re-run the DDD-estimations using this sample. The resulting town districts are: Rinkeby, Skärholmen, Farsta, Kista, Spånga-Tensta and Vantör. As can be seen in Table 2, essential variation in the starting year for the activation program is kept in this sample: two of the town districts implement the program in 1998 and -99, two in 2001, and the remaining two in 2003 and 2004. The DDD-results for this sample are shown in Table 8.<sup>19</sup>

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$  Note that the abbreviations used in the table are the same as in Table 6 and 7.

		(1)	(2)
DDD-estimates	SM-SW	006	004
		(.0053)	(.0048)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-42151.517	-38660.239
		n = 159596	n = 158007
	$\operatorname{SM-MM}$	002	.001
		(.0039)	(.0036)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-29805.839	-27764.847
		n = 166058	n = 164551
DDD-estimates	NW-W	001	001
		(.0030)	(.0030)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-76790.644	-69731.082
		n=373860	n=347412
	NW-S	001	000
		(.0021)	(.0020)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-187684.7	-172546.45
		n = 866440	n=840647
	Controls:		
	individual level covariates	no	yes
	town district level covariates	no	no

Table 8: Probit estimates, marginal effect of activation program on outmigration, six town districts

Note: The standard errors in parenthesis are robust to heteroscedasticity. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denote significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent level, respectively. Town district fixed effects, year fixed effects, and district-by-year-effects are included in all specifications.

As can be seen in Table 8, the marginal effects are fairly similar to the full-sample estimates of the previous section, but are never significantly different from zero. This can be due to the fact that the estimation power is reduced because of the smaller number of observations. It can however also be the case that the significant effects that were obtained in some specifications in the previous section, were due to some omitted factor that was related to differences in the economic situation between early and late program starters.

#### 7.2.2 Comparing two representative town districts

The previous sections yield rather ambiguous results: some significant, albeit not too easily interpretable, effects are obtained when all eleven town districts are included. However, when only the six poorest of the town districts are analyzed, no significant effects of the program are found.

An issue to consider in light of these results, is that the design of the activation programs vary between town districts, as was commented in section 2. This means that the activation programs can differ in for example the number of hours of attendance that are required, or in the quality of the services that are offered in the program. This naturally affects the results.

In a final attempt to pin down the effects of stricter activation rules on migration, we select two districts that are as similar as possible in economic conditions, but that differ as much as possible in the strictness of the activation policy. The selected town districts are Skärholmen and Vantör. As can be seen in Table 2, these are fairly similar in all variables except the share of immigrants. However, Skärholmen can be described as having one of the stricter activation programs. As was described in section 2, it has among the highest requirement for the number of hours of attendance (a minimum of 3 h a day). In addition, as was discussed in section 3, studies point to a lack of resources to meet the needs of the program participants, as well as to more negative attitudes to the program among the participants compared to other town districts (see Blomberg et al. (2006) and Thorén (2005)). This suggests that recipients of welfare would probably prefer not to have to participate in the program. Vantör, on the other hand, has no activation program during the time period under study.<sup>20</sup> If there is a positive effect on outmigration of stricter rules in the form of activation programs, it is thus likely to turn up here.

The DDD-results for this sample of town districts are shown in Table  $9.^{21}$  As can be seen in the table, they show no evidence of a migration effect of the activation program when we compare single mothers with single/cohabiting women with no children, or with married mothers. The differential migration effect for being a single mother, compared with a single woman with no children, is marginally significant in specification (1), but not as individual covariates are included. The coefficient for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> As could be seen in Table 1, an activation program was started in Vantör in 2004.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$  Note that the abbreviations used in the table are the same as in Table 6 and 7.

the program effect when comparing single and married mothers is never significantly different from zero.

		(1)	(2)
DDD-estimates	SM-SW	015	012
		(.0085)*	(.0078)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-18179.734	-16744.424
		n=63676	n=63188
	$\operatorname{SM-MM}$	008	004
		(.0061)	(.0058)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-11671.782	-10890.232
		n=61131	n=60714
DDD-estimates	NW-W	013	014
		(.0047) * * *	(.0045) * * *
	Log pseudolikelihood	-21356.064	-19564.121
		n=108925	n = 102791
	NW-S	007	006
		(.0041)*	(.0038)
	Log pseudolikelihood	-68705.251	-63300.987
		n=298062	n=291709
	Controls:		
	individual level covariates	no	yes
	town district level covariates	no	no

Table 9: Probit estimates, marginal effect of activation program on outmigration, two town districts

Note: The standard errors in parenthesis are robust to heteroscedasticity. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* denote significance at the 1, 5 and 10 percent level, respectively. Town district fixed effects, year fixed effects, and district-by-year-effects are included in all specifications.

A negative significant marginal effect is however estimated when individuals born in non-Western country and a Western country (except Sweden) are compared. This suggests that individuals of non-Western origin are about 2 percentage points less likely to move from a town district when there is an activation program in place, compared to individuals of Western origin. This is a large effect considering that the average migration rate for these groups in the full sample are 0.04 and 0.07 (see Table 3). The effect is in line with the hypothesis that welfare prone individuals value the services of the program, and hence want to stay in the town district to a higher extent when the program is in place, i.e. not the result we expected considering the negative attitudes among the activation program participants that were expressed in Blomberg et al. (2006). However, in order to make this interpretation, we would like to see a similar result for the difference in migration response when using Swedish-born individuals as comparison group. Whereas there is a marginally significant effect in specification (1), this turns insignificant as individual covariates are included.

# 8 Concluding remarks

To conclude, we find some evidence indicating that the more welfare prone target groups are less likely to move from a town district that has an activation program, compared to the less welfare prone comparison groups. This result is primarily obtained in the comparison between single mothers and single/cohabiting women without children in the regression on 11 town districts, and in the comparison between non-Western-born and Westernborn individuals in the regression on two town districts. This could be interpreted as evidence that welfare prone individuals are more likely to stay in town districts that have an activation program, possibly because they value the services of the program.

However, the over-all results suggest that this is too strong an interpretation of the results. While significant differences in the effects on more and less welfare prone individuals are obtained in several specifications, these vary with the choice of comparison group as well as with the sample of town districts, and it is hence probably wiser not to interpret the results as a result of the differences in local welfare benefit policy.

What we can say, however, is that the aggregate results show no evidence of a positive effect of the activation program on the outmigration of welfare prone individuals from the town districts, i.e. it does not seem that welfare prone individuals avoid the obligations to participate in the programs by moving. This is a reassuring result, which means that letting the town districts decide on the implementation and design of the activation programs has not led to harmful welfare-migration effects.

The non-significant results of this study contrast to the significant, albeit often economically small, effects found in other studies of welfare

migration. What is the reason for this divergence? It is of course possible that the lack of welfare migration is specific to the sample used in this case. However, it is also possible that the difference in results is due to an omitted variable bias in the previous literature, which is not present in this study. As was explained in the introduction, the fact that this study uses variation in the welfare policy within a municipality, where that labour market conditions and other region-specific characteristics are the same for all individuals, greatly reduces the risk for omitted variable bias.

# References

- Blomberg, G., Ekström, V. and Rauhut, D. (2006), Bidrag och motprestation - en uppföljning av arbetet med arbetslösa socialbidragstagare i sex stadsdelsområden i stockholm. FoU-rapport 2006:12.
- Ekström, V. (2005), Individens eget ansvar och samhällets stöd. en utvärdering av "skärholmsmodellen" vid jobbcentrum sydväst. FOUrapport 2005:10, Utrednings- och statistikontoret (USK) Stockholms stad.
- Fiva, J. H. (2007), Does welfare policy affect residential choices? evidence from a natural experiment. Discussion Papers No. 503, Statistics Norway Research Department.
- Gelbach, J. B. (2004), 'Migration, the lifecycle, and state benefits: How low is the bottom?', *Journal of Political Economy* **112**(5), 1091–1130.
- Kaestner, R., Kaushal, N. and Ryzin, G. V. (2001), Migration consequences of welfare reform. NBER Working paper 8560.
- McKinnish, T. (2005), 'Importing the poor: Welfare magnetism and crossborder welfare migration', *Journal of Human Resources* **40**, 57–76.
- McKinnish, T. (2007), 'Cross-border welfare migration: New evidence from micro-data', Journal of Public Economics **91**, 437–450.
- Meyer, B. D. (1995), 'Natural and quasi-experiments in economics', Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 13(2), 151–161.
- Meyer, B. D. (2000), Do the poor move to receive higher welfare benefits? Unpublished Paper, Department of Economics, Northwestern University.
- Moffitt, R. (1992), 'Incentive effects of the u.s. welfare system: A review', Journal of Economic Literature **30**(1), 1–61.
- Ruhm, C. J. (1998), 'The economic consequences of parental leave mandates: Lessons from europe', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 113(1), 285–317.
- IFAU Effects of work requirements on welfare migration

- Salonen, T. and Ulmestig, R. (2004), Nedersta trappsteget: En studie om kommunal aktivering. Rapport 1:2004, Institutionen för vårdvetenskap och socialt arbete, Växjö universitet.
- Socialstyrelsen (2005), 'Hur tillämpas 4 kap. 4§ socialtjänstlagen? krav på praktik eller annan kompetenshöjande verksamhet för ungdomar med försörjningsstöd'.
- Spahic, L. (2002), En longitudinell studie över nya långvariga socialbidragstagare. Undergraduate Thesis, Department of Mathematics, Stockholm university.
- Thorén, K. H. (2005), Kommunal aktiveringspolitik: En fallstudie av det praktiska arbetet med arbetslösa socialbidragstagare. Report 2005:11, The Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU).
- Yelowitz, A. S. (1995), 'The medicaid notch, labor supply, and welfare participation: Evidence from eligibility expansions', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* **110**(4), 909–939.

# A Appendix

# A.1 Survey to the social service units of the town districts

(Note that the survey was conducted in Swedish, and that this is a translated version.)

The survey refers to information on activities for unemployed individuals, capable of working, that receive welfare benefits.

1. Does your town district currently have activation or other labour market related programs for unemployed individuals that are capable of working and that receive welfare benefits?

Yes No If no, turn to question 9 of the survey. If yes, please name the program/programs:

2. Since which year does this program/programs exist in its current form (under the same or a different name)?

3. Does the program/s encompass all individuals, capable of working, that are unemployed and receive welfare benefits?

Yes 
No

4. If you have responded "No" to question 3:

- How large a share of all individuals, capable of working, that are unemployed and receive welfare benefit are encompassed by the program?

- Which groups of individuals are targeted by the program?

5. Please specify how and to which extent the following activities are being used in the program/programs:

a. Job-seeking activities

b. Job training activities

c. Other assigned work (for example within the municipal services)

d. Other activities, please specify which:

6. What is the minimum number of hours of weekly attendance that is required in the program/programs?

7. Is absence systematically reported to the social service officials? Yes \_\_\_\_\_ No \_\_\_\_

Comments:

8. Can absence (without acceptable cause) lead to rejection of the welfare benefit application?

Yes No Comments:

In the following part of the survey we ask for information on programs that were targeted to unemployed individuals that are capable of working and receive welfare benefits, before today's program/programs started.

9. Which programs have been in place under the period from 1990 until the start of today's program/programs? Under each number below, please specify the name of the program, or the main activity if a name does not exist, for example "Meeting with job counsellor". Please also specify during which years the program/activity was in place.

Program 1:
Name:
Time period:
Program 2:
Name:
Fime period:

[..etc..]

Below follows a set of questions about the programs/activities that were in place before today's program/programs. Please, answer the questions about each program under the number that corresponds to the list above.

Program/Activity 1:

1. Which groups were targeted by the program/activity?

2. How large a share of all individuals, capable of working and receiving welfare benefits, were encompassed by the program/activity?

3. Please, specify to which extent the following activities were used in the program/activity:

a. Job-seeking activities

b. Job-training activities

c. Other assigned work (for example within the municipal services)

d. Other activities, please specify which:

7. Was absence systematically reported to the social service officials?

Yes

No 🗌

If yes, in which way:

8. Could absence (without acceptable cause) lead to rejection of the welfare benefit application?

Yes 🗌

No 🗌

Comments:

[The same set of questions were repeated for all programs/activities in the list.]

# A.2 Graphs outmigration



Figure 2:







Born in Non-Western Country 0,1 0,09 0,08 0,07 Outmigration 99 Td99 0,06 - 1 Td01 0,05 ∎--- 3 Td03 0,04 **★** - 4 Td04 0,03 0,02 0,01 0 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Figure 4:

IFAU – Effects of work requirements on welfare migration

Figure 5:



# Figure 6:



# Publication series published by the Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU) – latest issues

#### Rapporter/Reports

- **2007:1** Lundin Daniela "Subventionerade anställningar för unga en uppföljning av allmänt anställningsstöd för 20–24-åringar"
- **2007:2** Lundin Daniela, Eva Mörk & Björn Öckert "Maxtaxan inom barnomsorgen påverkar den hur mycket föräldrar arbetar?"
- **2007:3** Bergemann Annette & Gerard van den Berg "Effekterna av aktiv arbetsmarknadspolitik för kvinnor i Europa – en översikt"
- **2007:4** Junestav Malin "Socialförsäkringssystemet och arbetsmarknaden politiska idéer, sociala normer och institutionell förändring en historik"
- 2007:5 Andersson Christian "Lärartäthet, lärarkvalitet och arbetsmarknaden för lärare"
- 2007:6 Larsson Laura & Caroline Runeson "Effekten av sänkt sjukpenning för arbetslösa"
- **2007:7** Stenberg Anders "Hur påverkar gymnasialt komvux löneinkomster och vidare studier?
- **2007:8** "Forslund Anders & Kerstin Johansson "Lediga jobb, arbetssökande och anställningar den svenska matchningsfunktionen"
- **2007:9** Kennerberg Louise "Hur förändras kvinnors och mäns arbetssituation när de får barn?"
- 2007:10 Nordin Martin "Invandrares avkastning på utbildning i Sverige"
- **2007:11** Johansson Mats & Katarina Katz "Underutnyttjad utbildning och lönegapet mellan kvinnor och män"
- **2007:12** Gartell Marie, Ann-Christin Jans & Helena Persson "Utbildningens betydelse för flöden på arbetsmarknaden"
- 2007:13 Grönqvist Hans & Olof Åslund "Familjestorlekens effekter på barns utbildning och arbetsliv"
- 2007:14 Lindqvist Linus "Uppföljning av plusjobb"
- **2007:15** Sibbmark Kristina "Avidentifierade jobbansökningar erfarenheter från ett försök i Göteborgs stad"
- **2007:16** Hesselius Patrik & Malin Persson "Incitamentseffekter och Försäkringskassans kostnader av kollektivavtalade sjukförsäkringar"
- **2007:17** Eriksson Stefan & Jonas Lagerström "Diskriminering i anställningsprocessen: resultat från en Internetbaserad sökkanal"

- **2007:18** Eriksson Robert, Oskar Nordström Skans, Anna Sjögren & Olof Åslund "Ungdomars och invandrades inträde på arbetsmarknaden 1985–2003"
- **2007:19** Agerström Jens, Rickard Carlsson & Dan-Olof Rooth "Etnicitet och övervikt: implicita arbetsrelaterade fördomar i Sverige"
- **2007:20** Bennmarker Helge, Kenneth Carling & Anders Forslund "Vem blir långtidsarbetslös?"
- 2007:21 Edmark Karin "Strategisk konkurrens i kommuners utgiftsbeslut för barnomsorg, skola och äldreomsorg"
- **2007:22** Lindahl Erica "Systematiska avvikelser mellan slutbetyg och provresultat spelar elevens kön och etniska bakgrund roll?"
- **2007:23** Lindahl Erica "Spelar lika kön och etnisk bakgrund på lärare och elever roll för provresultat och slutbetyg?"
- **2007:24** Fredriksson Peter & Björn Öckert "Hur mycket påverkas studieresultat av resurser?
- **2007:25** Bygren Magnus & Michael Gähler "Kvinnors underrepresentation på chefspositioner en familjeangelägenhet?"
- **2007:26** Edmark Karin "Påverkar olika hårda krav på aktivering av socialbidragstagare var man väljer att bo?"

#### Working Papers

- **2007:1** de Luna Xavier & Per Johansson "Matching estimators for the effect of a treatment on survival times"
- **2007:2** Lundin Daniela, Eva Mörk & Björn Öckert "Do reduced child care prices make parents work more?"
- **2007:3** Bergemann Annette & Gerard van den Berg "Active labor market policy effects for women in Europe a survey"
- **2007:4** Andersson Christian "Teacher density and student achievement in Swedish compulsory schools"
- **2007:5** Andersson Christian & Nina Waldenström "Teacher supply and the market for teachers"
- **2007:6** Andersson Christian & Nina Waldenström "Teacher certification and student achievement in Swedish compulsory schools"
- **2007:7** van den Berg Gerard, Maarten Lindeboom & Marta López "Inequality in individual mortality and economic conditions earlier in life"
- **2007:8** Larsson Laura & Caroline Runeson "Moral hazard among the sick and unemployed: evidence from a Swedish social insurance reform"

- **2007:9** Stenberg Anders "Does adult education at upper secondary level influence annual wage earnings?"
- **2007:10** van den Berg Gerard "An economic analysis of exclusion restrictions for instrumental variable estimation"
- **2007:11** Forslund Anders & Kerstin Johansson "Random and stock-flow models of labour market matching Swedish evidence"
- 2007:12 Nordin Martin "Immigrants' return to schooling in Sweden"
- **2007:13** Johansson Mats & Katarina Katz "Wage differences between women and men in Sweden the impact of skill mismatch"
- **2007:14** Gartell Marie, Ann-Christin Jans & Helena Persson "The importance of education for the reallocation of labor: evidence from Swedish linked employer-employee data 1986–2002"
- **2007:15** Åslund Olof & Hans Grönqvist "Family size and child outcomes: Is there really no trade-off?"
- **2007:16** Hesselius Patrik & Malin Persson "Incentive and spill-over effects of supplementary sickness compensation"
- **2007:17** Engström Per & Patrik Hesselius "The information method theory and application"
- 2007:18 Engström Per, Patrik Hesselius & Malin Persson "Excess use of Temporary Parental Benefit"
- **2007:19** Eriksson Stefan & Jonas Lagerström "Detecting discrimination in the hiring process: evidence from an Internet-based search channel"
- **2007:20** Agerström Jens, Rickard Carlsson & Dan-Olof Rooth "Ethnicity and obesity: evidence of implicit work performance stereotypes in Sweden"
- **2007:21** Uusitalo Roope & Jouko Verho "The effect of unemployment benefits on reemployment rates: evidence from the Finnish UI-benefit reform"
- **2007:22** Edmark Karin "Strategic competition in Swedish local spending on childcare, schooling and care for the elderly"
- **2007:23** Valentin Kvist Ann & Jan-Eric Gustafsson "The relation between fluid intelligence and the general factor as a function of cultural background: a test of Cattell's investment theory"
- **2007:24** Lindahl Erica "Comparing teachers' assessments and national test results evidence from Sweden"
- **2007:25** Lindahl Erica "Gender and ethnic interactions among teachers and students evidence from Sweden"
- **2007:26** Fredriksson Peter & Björn Öckert "Resources and student achievement evidence from a Swedish policy reform"

- **2007:27** Adda Jérôme, Mónica Costa Dias, Costas Meghir & Barbara Sianesi "Labour market programmes and labour market outcomes: a study of the Swedish active labour market interventions"
- **2007:28** Bygren Magnus & Michael Gähler "The gender gap in workplace authority in Sweden 1968–2000 a family affair?"
- 2007:29 Edmark Karin "Effects of work requirements on welfare migration"

#### **Dissertation Series**

- **2007:1** Lundin Martin "The conditions for multi-level governance: implementation, politics and cooperation in Swedish active labor market policy"
- 2007:2 Edmark Karin "Interactions among Swedish local governments"
- 2006:1 Hägglund Pathric "Natural and classical experiments in Swedish labour market policy"
- 2006:2 Savvidou Eleni "Technology, human capital and labor demand"
- **2006:3** Söderström Martin "Evaluating institutional changes in education and wage policy"
- 2006:4 Lagerström Jonas "Discrimination, sickness absence, and labor market policy"
- **2006:5** Johansson Kerstin "Empirical essays on labor-force participation, matching, and trade"